
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v.

EMERSON LITTLE
CHRISTIAN IRVIS
SHAWN MOBLEY
KEISHA BAXTER

: 

:

:

:

  :

  :

CRIMINAL NO: 11-331__________

DATE FILED: March 20, 2012

VIOLATIONS: 18 U.S.C. § 371
(conspiracy - 1 count)
18 U.S.C. § 1343 (wire fraud - 16 counts)
18 U.S.C. § 513 (uttering counterfeit
securities - 20 counts) 
18 U.S.C. § 2 (aiding and abetting)
Notice of forfeiture

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT

COUNT ONE

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT:

1. From in or about January 2010 until in or about August 2010, in the

Eastern District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, defendants

EMERSON LITTLE,
CHRISTIAN IRVIS, 

SHAWN MOBLEY, and 
KEISHA BAXTER

conspired and agreed, together and with others known and unknown to the grand jury, to commit

offenses against the United States, that is, the intentional devising of a scheme to defraud

involving interstate wires, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, and the

making, uttering and possessing of forged and counterfeit securities of an organization operating

in and affecting interstate commerce with the intent to deceive, in violation of Title 18, United

States Code, Section 513(a).

MANNER AND MEANS

2. It was part of the conspiracy that defendant EMERSON LITTLE



purchased and produced counterfeit checks in the names of fictitious organizations and people

and purchased counterfeit identification documents in the names of fictitious people.

3. It was further a part of the conspiracy that defendants CHRISTIAN

IRVIS, SHAWN MOBLEY and KEISHA BAXTER defrauded and attempted to defraud retail

establishments, including Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse, Raymour & Flanigan, George

F. Kempf Supply Company, Pep Boys Auto, Klaussner Home Furnishings, Tire Kingdom,

Sprint, and Sears, by presenting the counterfeit checks purchased and made by defendant

EMERSON LITTLE at these retail establishments for the purchase of merchandise and services.

4. It was further a part of the conspiracy that defendants CHRISTIAN IRVIS

and SHAWN MOBLEY presented counterfeit identification documents obtained and

manufactured by defendant EMERSON LITTLE to cashiers at retail establishments to deceive

them into believing that the counterfeit checks were genuine. 

5. It was further a part of the conspiracy that defendants EMERSON

LITTLE, CHRISTIAN IRVIS, SHAWN MOBLEY, and KEISHA BAXTER and others known

and unknown to the grand jury obtained more than $34,316.41 in merchandise and services from

retail establishments.

OVERT ACTS

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to accomplish its objects, defendants

EMERSON LITTLE, CHRISTIAN IRVIS, SHAWN MOBLEY and KEISHA BAXTER

committed the following overt acts, among others, in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and

elsewhere:
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1. On or about January 19, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Pep Boys Auto store in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania to

purchase $1,192.66 worth of merchandise.

2. On or about May 22, 2010, defendants EMERSON LITTLE and

CHRISTIAN IRVIS caused a counterfeit check to be presented at a Sears Hardware store in

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania to purchase $1,708.39 worth of merchandise.

3. On or about June 25, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse in Oaks,

Pennsylvania to purchase $2,010.82 worth of merchandise.

4. On or about June 29, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Pep Boys Auto store in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania to

purchase $687.50 worth of merchandise. 

5. On or about June 30, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse in Princeton, New

Jersey to purchase $4,679.70 worth of merchandise.

6. On or about July 13, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Pep Boys Auto store in Dover, Delaware to purchase

$1,480.62 worth of merchandise. 

7. On or about July 21, 2010, defendants EMERSON LITTLE and 

CHRISTIAN IRVIS caused a counterfeit check to be presented at a Sprint Store in Lawnside,

New Jersey to purchase $775.69 worth of merchandise. 
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8. On or about July 26, 2010, defendants EMERSON LITTLE and

CHRISTIAN IRVIS caused a counterfeit check to be presented at a Klaussner Home Furnishings

store in Wilmington, Delaware to purchase $4,990 worth of merchandise. 

9. On or about July 30, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse in Oaks,

Pennsylvania to purchase $999.25 worth of merchandise. 

10. On or about August 3, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Pep Boys Auto store in Norristown, Pennsylvania to

purchase $583.34 worth of merchandise. 

11. On or about August 3, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Pep Boys Auto store in Norristown, Pennsylvania to

purchase $597.56 worth of merchandise. 

12. On or about August 6, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Tire Kingdom store in Wilmington, Delaware to purchase

$543.96 worth of merchandise. 

13. On or about August 7, 2010, defendants EMERSON LITTLE and

KEISHA BAXTER caused a counterfeit check to be presented at a Klaussner Home Furnishings

store in Wilmington, Delaware to purchase $1,597 in merchandise.  

14. On or about August 9, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Pep Boys Auto store in Quakertown, Pennsylvania to

purchase $1,386.21 worth of merchandise and services.
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15. On or about August 9, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse in Quakertown,

Pennsylvania to purchase $3,637.68 worth of merchandise.

16. On or about August 9, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse in Quakertown,

Pennsylvania to purchase $2,023.54 worth of merchandise.

17. On or about August 10, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE caused a

counterfeit check to be presented at a Pep Boys Auto store in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania to

purchase $3,172.08 worth of merchandise and services.

18. On or about August 24, 2010, defendant EMERSON LITTLE and J.L., a

person known to the grand jury, caused a counterfeit check to be presented at a Lowe’s Home

Improvement Warehouse in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania to purchase merchandise.

19. On or about August 24, 2010, defendants EMERSON LITTLE and

SHAWN MOBLEY caused a counterfeit check to be presented at a Lowe’s Home Improvement

Warehouse in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania to purchase a washer and dryer.

20. On or about August 24, 2010, defendants EMERSON LITTLE,

CHRISTIAN IRVIS and SHAWN MOBLEY and J.L. caused a counterfeit check to be presented

at a Raymour & Flanigan store in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania to purchase $2,170 worth of

furniture.

21. On or about August 24, 2010, defendants EMERSON LITTLE and 

CHRISTIAN IRVIS caused a counterfeit check to be presented at George F. Kempf Supply

Company in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania to purchase $3,989.58 worth of lumber.
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22. On or about August 25, 2010, defendants EMERSON LITTLE and

SHAWN MOBLEY caused a counterfeit check to be presented at a Sears store in Philadelphia,

Pennsylvania and attempted to purchase $1,079.74 worth of merchandise. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.
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COUNTS TWO THROUGH FOURTEEN

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

At all times material to this indictment:

1. Pep Boys Auto, Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse, Tire Kingdom, 

and George F. Kempf Supply Company were retail establishments with locations in the Eastern

District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere that engaged in interstate commerce.

2. The retail establishments in paragraph 1 used Certegy Check Services

(“Certegy”), a division of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., to provide check 

verification services.  Certegy received wired check verification inquiries from these retail

establishments at their business centers in Alabama and Utah.  

THE SCHEME

3. Beginning in or about January 2010 through in or about August 2010,

defendants 

EMERSON LITTLE,
CHRISTIAN IRVIS, and

SHAWN MOBLEY

devised and intended to devise a scheme to defraud the retail establishments referenced in

paragraph 1 and to obtain property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations,

and promises.

It was part of the scheme that:

4. Defendant EMERSON LITTLE purchased counterfeit checks and routing

and account numbers.  Defendant EMERSON LITTLE also manufactured counterfeit checks

with purchased routing and account numbers.  Many of these checks had routing numbers
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belonging to genuine banks, but all of the account numbers were fictitious.  The names of

organizations on the checks were also fictitious.

5. Defendant EMERSON LITTLE and others known and unknown to the

grand jury frequently telephoned Certegy in advance of negotiating counterfeit checks and 

represented that they were from Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse, Store Number 729,

which is located in Columbia, Tennessee.  By this method, the co-schemers attempted to verify

that their bogus checks would be accepted at retail establishments.

6. Defendants EMERSON LITTLE, CHRISTIAN IRVIS and SHAWN

MOBLEY and others known and unknown to the grand jury presented and caused to be

presented counterfeit checks to cashiers at Pep Boys Auto, Lowe’s Home Improvement

Warehouse, Tire Kingdom, and George F. Kempf Supply Company in the Eastern District of

Pennsylvania and elsewhere to purchase merchandise and services.

7. Defendants EMERSON LITTLE, CHRISTIAN IRVIS, and SHAWN

MOBLEY and others known and unknown to the grand jury presented and caused to be

presented counterfeit driver’s licenses or other false identification documents to cashiers at retail

establishments in an effort to convince the cashiers that they were the authorized account holders

on the checks.

8. After defendants EMERSON LITTLE, CHRISTIAN IRVIS, and SHAWN

MOBLEY and others known and unknown to the grand jury presented and caused to be

presented counterfeit checks to the cashiers at the retail establishments, the cashiers attempted to

verify the checks by transmitting information about the checks to Certegy. 

9. On more than 15 occasions, the counterfeit checks presented and caused to

8



be presented by defendants EMERSON LITTLE, CHRISTIAN IRVIS and SHAWN MOBLEY

in their names or the names of others were approved by Certegy because they carried sufficient

indicia of reliability.

10. When the fraudulent checks were approved, defendants EMERSON

LITTLE, CHRISTIAN IRVIS and SHAWN MOBLEY and others known and unknown to the

grand jury obtained merchandise from the retail establishments.  By this scheme, defendants

LITTLE, IRVIS and MOBLEY and others known and unknown to the grand jury obtained more

than $21,995.59 in goods from the retailers.

11. On or about each of the dates set forth below, in the Eastern District of

Pennsylvania, defendants  

EMERSON LITTLE,
CHRISTIAN IRVIS, and

SHAWN MOBLEY 

devised and intended to devise a scheme to defraud the retail establishments referenced in

paragraph 1, for the purpose of executing the scheme described above, and aiding and abetting

its execution, caused to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate commerce

from Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, the signals and sounds described below for each count, each

transmission constituting a separate count:
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COUNT DATE RETAIL ESTABLISHMENT

2 1/19/2010 Pep Boys Auto

3 6/25/2010 Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse

4 6/29/2010 Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse

5 7/30/2010 Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse

6 8/3/2010 Pep Boys Auto

7 8/3/2010 Pep Boys Auto

8 8/9/2010 Pep Boys Auto

9 8/9/2010 Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse

10 8/9/2010 Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse

11 8/10/2010 Pep Boys Auto

12 8/24/2010 Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse

13 8/24/2010 Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse

14 8/24/2010 George F. Kempf Supply Company

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2.
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COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH SEVENTEEN

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

At all times material to this indictment:

1. Sears and Raymour & Flanigan were retail establishments with locations

in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere that engaged in interstate commerce.

2. The retail establishments in paragraph 1 used Telecheck, a division of

First Data, to provide check verification services.  Telecheck received wired check verification

inquiries from these retail establishments at their business centers in Texas and other locations

throughout the United States.

THE SCHEME

3. Beginning in or about May 2010 through in or about August 2010,

defendants 

EMERSON LITTLE,
CHRISTIAN IRVIS, 

SHAWN MOBLEY, and
KEISHA BAXTER

devised and intended to devise a scheme to defraud the retail establishments referenced in

paragraph 1 and to obtain property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations,

and promises.

It was part of the scheme that:

4. Defendant EMERSON LITTLE purchased counterfeit checks and routing

and account numbers.  Defendant EMERSON LITTLE also manufactured counterfeit checks

with purchased routing and account numbers.  Many of these checks had routing numbers
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belonging to genuine banks, but all of the account numbers were fictitious.  The names of

organizations on the checks were also fictitious.

5. Defendants EMERSON LITTLE, CHRISTIAN IRVIS, SHAWN

MOBLEY, and KEISHA BAXTER and others known and unknown to the grand jury presented

and caused to be presented counterfeit checks to cashiers at retail establishments in the Eastern

District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere to purchase merchandise and services.

7. Defendants EMERSON LITTLE, CHRISTIAN IRVIS, SHAWN

MOBLEY, and KEISHA BAXTER and others known and unknown to the grand jury presented

and caused to be presented counterfeit driver’s licenses or other false identification documents to

cashiers at retail establishments in an effort to convince the cashiers that they were the

authorized account holders on the checks.

8. After defendants EMERSON LITTLE, CHRISTIAN IRVIS, SHAWN

MOBLEY, and KEISHA BAXTER and others known and unknown to the grand jury presented

and caused to be presented counterfeit checks to the cashiers at the retail establishments, the

cashiers attempted to verify the checks by transmitting information about the checks to

Telecheck.

9. On more than five occasions, the counterfeit checks presented and caused

to be presented by defendants EMERSON LITTLE, CHRISTIAN IRVIS, SHAWN MOBLEY,

and KEISHA BAXTER in their names or the names of others were approved by Telecheck

because they carried sufficient indicia of reliability.

10. When the fraudulent checks were approved, defendants EMERSON

LITTLE, CHRISTIAN IRVIS, SHAWN MOBLEY, and KEISHA BAXTER and others known
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and unknown to the grand jury obtained merchandise from the retail establishments.  By this

scheme, defendants LITTLE, IRVIS, MOBLEY and BAXTER and others known and unknown

to the grand jury obtained more than $12,320.82 in goods from the retailers.

11. On or about each of the dates set forth below, in the Eastern District of

Pennsylvania, defendants  

EMERSON LITTLE,
CHRISTIAN IRVIS, 

SHAWN MOBLEY, and
KEISHA BAXTER 

devised and intended to devise a scheme to defraud the retail establishments referenced in

paragraph 1, for the purpose of executing the scheme described above, and aiding and abetting

its execution, caused to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate commerce

from Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, the signals and sounds described below for each count, each

transmission constituting a separate count:
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COUNT DATE RETAIL ESTABLISHMENT

15 5/22/2010 Sears Hardware

16 8/24/2010 Raymour & Flanigan

17 8/24/2010 Sears

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2.
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COUNTS EIGHTEEN THROUGH THIRTY-TWO

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

On or about each of the dates set forth below, in the Eastern District of

Pennsylvania and elsewhere, defendant

EMERSON LITTLE

with intent to deceive, knowingly uttered and possessed, and aided and abetted the uttering and

possession of, forged and counterfeit securities of an organization operating in and affecting

interstate commerce, that is, the checks listed below, drawn on the banks, in the amounts, and at

the locations indicated, each check constituting a separate count:

Count Date Bank Merchant Location Approx.
Amount

18 1/19/2010 First National
Bank

Pep Boys
Auto

Philadelphia, PA
$1,192.66

19 5/22/2010 Sears
Hardware

Philadelphia, PA
$1,708.39

20 6/29/2010 Bank of
America

Pep Boys
Auto

Philadelphia, PA
$687.50

21 7/13/2010 Wachovia Bank Pep Boys
Auto

Dover, DE
$1,480.62

22 7/21/2010 Sprint Store Lawnside, NJ $775.69

23 7/26/2010 Klaussner
Home
Furnishings

Wilmington, DE

$4,990.00

24 7/30/2010 Bank of
America

Lowe’s
Home
Improvement
Warehouse

Oaks, PA

$999.25
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Count Date Bank Merchant Location Approx.
Amount

25 8/3/2010 Sun National
Bank

Pep Boys
Auto

Norristown, PA
$583.34

26 8/3/2010 Wachovia Bank Pep Boys
Auto

Norristown, PA
$597.56

27 8/6/2010 Sun National
Bank

Tire
Kingdom

Wilmington, DE
$543.96

28 8/7/2010 Klaussner
Home
Furnishings

Wilmington, DE

$1,132.06

29 8/9/2010 Sun National
Bank

Lowe’s
Home
Improvement
Warehouse

Quakertown, PA

$3,637.68

30 8/9/2010 Sun National
Bank

Lowe’s
Home
Improvement
Warehouse

Quakertown, PA

$2,023.54

31 8/10/2010 Sun National
Bank

Pep Boys
Auto

Philadelphia, PA
$3,172.08

32 8/24/2010 Bank of
America

George F.
Kempf
Supply
Company

Philadelphia, PA

$3,989.58

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 513(a) and 2.
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COUNTS THIRTY-THREE THROUGH THIRTY-SIX

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

On or about each of the dates set forth below, in the Eastern District of

Pennsylvania and elsewhere, defendant

CHRISTIAN IRVIS

with intent to deceive, knowingly uttered and possessed, and aided and abetted the uttering and

possession of, forged and counterfeit securities of an organization operating in and affecting

interstate commerce, that is, the checks listed below, at the locations and in the amounts

indicated, each check constituting a separate count:

Count Date Merchant Location Approx.
Amount

33 5/22/2010 Sears Hardware Philadelphia, PA $1,708.39

34 7/21/2010 Sprint Store Lawnside, NJ $775.69

35 7/26/2010 Klaussner Home
Furnishings

Wilmington, DE
$4,990.00

36 8/24/2010 George F. Kempf
Supply Company

Philadelphia, PA
$3,989.58

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 513(a) and 2.
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COUNTS THIRTY-SEVEN

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

On or about each of the dates set forth below, in the Eastern District of

Pennsylvania and elsewhere, defendant

KEISHA BAXTER

with intent to deceive, knowingly uttered and possessed, and aided and abetted the uttering and

possession of, a forged and counterfeit security of an organization operating in and affecting

interstate commerce, that is, a check at the location and in the amount listed below:

Count Date Merchant Location Approx.
Amount

37 8/7/2010 Klaussner Home
Furnishings

Wilmington, DE
$1,597.00

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 513(a) and 2.
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NOTICE OF FORFEITURE

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

As a result of the violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371, 513

and 1343 charged in this Indictment, defendants

EMERSON LITTLE,
CHRISTIAN IRVIS,

SHAWN MOBLEY, and
KEISHA BAXTER

shall forfeit to the United States of America any property that constitutes or is derived from

proceeds obtained directly or indirectly as a result of the violations of Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 371, 513 and 1343 as charged in Counts 1 through 37 of this indictment.

If any of the property described above as being subject to forfeiture, as a result of

any act or omission of the defendant:

(a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

(b) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third person;

(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

(d) has been substantially diminished in value; or

(e) has been commingled with other property which cannot be

subdivided without difficulty;

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461,

incorporating Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), to seek forfeiture of any property of

said defendants up to the value of said property listed above as being subject to forfeiture.
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All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(c), and Title 28,

United States Code, Section 2461.

A TRUE BILL:

_________________________________
FOREPERSON

____________________________
ZANE DAVID MEMEGER
United States Attorney
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